THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit
Case No.: 2013-CP-27-327

APR 01 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2014-002612

Randy Horton.....Appellant

-vs-

Jasper County School District.....Respondent

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

J. Ashley Twombly
Twenge + Twombly Law Firm
S.C. Bar #72916
311 Carteret Street
Beaufort, SC 29902
Telephone: (843) 982-0100
Facsimile: (843) 982-0103
www.twlawfirm.com
Attorney for Appellant

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it reduced counsels' hourly attorney fee rates under FOIA to \$100.00 per hour?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Randy Horton (Horton) is an elected member of the Board of Trustees for Respondent Jasper County School District (School District). Horton requested that the School District provide him with information and documents under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA). (R. pp. 41-46). The School District failed to respond to Horton's FOIA requests and did not provide the documents requested. (R. pp. 30-54, R. pp. 92-93). Horton then filed a Summons and Complaint dated June 19, 2013, with a cause of action alleging violations of the South Carolina FOIA. (R. pp. 30-54). Horton's Complaint also requested attorney fees. (R. pp. 30-54). The School District filed an Answer dated August 22, 2013, denying that Horton was entitled to any records. (R. pp. 55-75).

Horton filed a Motion for Summary Judgment dated October 9, 2013. (R. pp. 86 - 102). In the motion, Horton asked that summary judgment be entered finding that the School District violated FOIA, and asked for an award of attorney fees and litigation costs under S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100(b). (R. pp. 86-102).

A hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment was initially held on January 31, 2014. The lower court asked the parties to prepare additional briefs relating to the matter and scheduled another hearing for March 31, 2014. Neither entitlement nor amount of attorney fees to be awarded was discussed at the January 31, 2014 hearing. At the March 31, 2014 hearing, the lower court ordered the School District to provide Horton with all of the documents he requested through FOIA, and directed Horton's counsel to submit a

supplemental Affidavit related to attorney fees and litigation costs after all of the documents at issue were received. (R. pp. 118-119). Neither entitlement nor amount of attorney fees to be awarded was addressed at the March 31, 2014 hearing.

On July 9, 2014, Horton provided the lower court and the School District with the requested Affidavit relating to attorney fees and litigation costs. The Affidavit stated that Horton's counsel spent over 135 hours working on this case at counsels' standard hourly rates of \$295.00 and \$250.00. The Affidavit also showed that the litigation costs were \$1,096.56. (R. pp. 103-116). The School District never responded to, objected to, or otherwise communicated with the lower court or with Horton relating to the Affidavit related to attorney fees and litigation costs. The School District never objected to the number of hours spent by counsel on this case, never objected to counsels' hourly rates, and never offered any counter affidavits. No hearing addressing the Affidavit related to attorney fees and litigation costs was scheduled by the lower court.¹

On September 5, 2014, the lower court granted Horton's Motion for Summary Judgment and awarded Horton all litigation costs of \$1,096.56 and awarded Horton attorney fees for each attorney hour spent on the file. However, the trial court reduced counsels' hourly rates from \$295.00 and \$250.00 to \$100.00 per hour.² (R. pp. 20-21). Horton timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration regarding what he believed was the improper reduction of counsels' hourly rates. (R. pp. 76-85) The lower court denied the

¹ Because the lower court never held a hearing addressing the amount of attorney fees and litigation costs to be awarded in this matter, there was no transcript for counsel to order prior to filing and serving the Initial Brief. Further, the amount of attorney fees and litigation costs were not addressed during the January 31, 2014 hearing or during the March 31, 2014; therefore, counsel did not order the transcripts for these hearings.

² The lower court did not award the paralegal and legal assistant time as set forth in the Affidavit. Horton is not challenging that portion of the decision.

Motion for Reconsideration, issuing a Form 4 Order, without holding a hearing. (R. pp. 2-18). Horton timely filed a Notice of Appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing a ruling left to the discretion of the lower court, an appellate court will reverse the ruling if the ruling constitutes an abuse of discretion. E.g. Laser Supply and Services, Inc., v. Orchard Park Associates, 382 S.C. 326, 676 S.E.2d 139 (Ct. App. 2009) (determination left to the discretion of the trial court will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion); Southeastern Housing Foundation v. Smith, 380 S.C. 621, 670 S.E.2d 680 (Ct. App. 2008) (appellate standard of review is limited to determining whether there was an abuse of discretion).

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court abused its discretion when it reduced counsels' hourly attorney fee rates under FOIA to \$100.00 per hour.

The lower court committed reversible error when it disregarded the hourly rates set forth in the Affidavit Regarding Legal Fees and Costs, ignored the fact that the School District never objected to the hourly rates and reduced Horton's counsels' hourly rates to \$100.00 per hour.

a. The lower court ignored the Affidavit Regarding Legal Fees and Costs and Motion to Reconsider.

In the Affidavit Regarding Legal Fees and Costs and Motion to Reconsider, Horton's counsel set forth evidence to show that the firm's hourly rates are \$295.00 for Partner and \$250.00 for Attorney. (R. pp. 103-104, ¶ 5). Horton's counsel also confirmed that these hourly rates are "customary legal fees for litigation cases in the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit" and that these were the hourly rates "Plaintiff's counsel charges to virtually all of its clients that pay by the hour." (R. pp. 105-106, ¶ 6(f); R. pp.

76-85). As to the experience of Horton's counsel, Horton's two attorneys are experienced litigators with combined twenty-five years of experience, and one of which holds a Martindale-Hubbard AV rating. (R. p. 105, ¶ 6(c)). Thus, the Affidavit and Motion for Reconsideration established that the hourly rates for Horton's counsel are \$295.00 for Partner and \$250.00 for Attorney, and that these are the rates that Horton's counsel charges to all of its hourly clients and that these hourly rates are customary in the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit. Nevertheless, the lower court disregarded the Affidavit and Motion to Reconsider without explanation.

b. The School District never objected to any aspect of Horton's fee request.

The School District never objected to Horton's requested legal fees and costs. The School District did not object to the hourly rates listed and did not argue that the hourly rates were not customary hourly rates fees in the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit or in South Carolina. The School District never offered any counter affidavits or any other evidence about customary hourly rates in the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit. Therefore, the only evidence before the lower court was that offered by Horton's counsel.

c. There is no evidence in the record to support the \$100.00 per hour fee.

When the lower court reduced Horton's counsels' hourly rates to \$100.00, the lower court did not cite any evidence to support its decision, because there was no other evidence in the record. Thus, there is no evidence in the records to support the fee reduction to \$100.00 per hour.

d. The lower court awarded a fee for each hour of time expended by Horton's counsel on the file.

The Affidavit Regarding Legal Fees and Costs established that J. Ashley Twombly expended 39.7 hours on the file and that Jennifer I. Campbell expended 95.6

hours on the file, for 135.3 total attorney hours on the file. (R. pp. 103-104, ¶ 5).³

In its Order, the lower court found that the Affidavit Regarding Legal Fees and Costs “portrays commensurate time, nature, extent, and difficulty expended by [Horton’s counsel] in procuring the FOIA requested documents and litigation related thereto.” (R. pp. 20-21). The lower court held that the legal fees relate to the preparation of the pleadings, preparation of a brief to the court relating to jurisdiction, standing, and the merits of the case, and review of over 2,000 pages of documents provided in seven separate submissions over the course of several months. (R. pp. 19-22). The lower court concluded that “[u]ltimately, my ruling produces beneficial results for their client.” (R. p. 21). The lower court awarded fees “for a total of 135.3 hours documented by J. Ashley Twombly, Esq. and Jennifer Campbell, Esq. for their work in compelling the document production at issue.” (R. p. 21). Therefore, the lower court found that Horton was entitled to an award of attorney fees for each hour spent by his attorneys.

e. The lower court concluded that Horton was entitled to an attorney fee award under Burton v. York County Sheriff's Department, 358 S.C. 339, 594 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2004).

Under Burton, the six factors to be considered when determining an award of attorney’s fees are (1) the nature, extent, and difficulty of the case; (2) the time necessarily devoted to the case; (3) professional standing of counsel; (4) contingency of compensation; (5) beneficial results obtained; and (6) customary legal fees for similar services. Id. at 357, 594 S.E.2d at 898. The lower court concluded that Horton was

³ In response to the FOIA requests, the School District ultimately produced over 2,460 pages of documents in seven separate mailings. The documents were provided in three different formats (consolidated monthly bills, individual cardholder statements, and monthly computer print-outs). The School District also provided individual statements and monthly computer print-outs for cardholders not included in the FOIA requests. (R. pp. 104-105, ¶ 6(b)). In addition, the School District redacted some of the documents. Counsel for the parties discussed the redaction, and the School District agreed to provide unredacted documents. (R. p. 117). These issues resulted in a significant amount of time being spent on the case.

entitled to attorney fees.

Specifically, the lower court found that Horton's counsel expended "commensurate time, nature, extent, and difficulty" in obtaining the FOIA requested documents and litigating this matter. (R. pp. 20-21). The lower court noted that counsel has "a combined twenty-five years of experience in litigation." (R. pp. 21). The lower court found that the legal fees appropriately relate to the preparation of the pleadings and briefs to the court as well as review of the documents provided. (R. pp. 21). The lower court concluded that "[u]ltimately, my ruling produces beneficial results for their client." (R. pp. 21). Thus, the lower court correctly found that Horton was entitled to an award of attorney fees in this matter under Burton and awarded a fee for each hour requested by Horton's counsel.

f. The lower court failed to exercise discretion and issued a ruling that abused discretion.

The decision about whether to award attorney's fees under a state statute like S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100(b) is left to the discretion of the lower court. See Kiriakides v. School Dist. Of Greenville County, 382 S.C. 8, 675 S.E.2d 439 (2009). An abuse of discretion occurs when a judge fails to exercise discretion, when a ruling is based upon an error of law, or, when a ruling based on factual conclusions is without evidentiary support. See Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 656, 566 (1987) ("An abuse of discretion occurs when the judge's ruling is based upon an error of law or, when based upon factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.") and Samples v. Mitchell, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (Ct. App. 1997) ("A failure to exercise discretion amounts to an abuse of that discretion."). In this case, the lower court failed to exercise any discretion as the hourly fee amount.

1. The lower court failed to exercise discretion.

The lower court reduced counsels' hourly rate from their customary rates, down to \$100.00 per hour, across the board. The lower court did not explain why it felt it was appropriate to reduce counsels' hourly rates. After Horton filed a Motion for Reconsideration asking that the lower court to either award attorney fees at the hourly rates listed in the Regarding Legal Fees and Costs or explain why an hourly rate of \$100.00 was used, the lower court denied the motion with a Form 4 Order. (R. pp. 76-85; R. pp. 2-18). Thus, a review of the lower court's orders establishes that no discretion was exercised relating to the hourly rate of Horton's counsel. "When a trial judge is vested with discretion, but his ruling reveals no discretion was, in fact, exercised, an error of law has occurred." Fontaine, 291 S.C. at 538, 354 S.E.2d at 566. Accordingly, the lower court's decision to reduce counsels' hourly rate to \$100.00 amounts to an abuse of discretion and an error of law.

2. The lower court's ruling reduced counsels' hourly fee to \$100.00 without evidentiary support.

In this case, the only evidence before the lower court relating to counsels' hourly rates and the customary rates in the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit was the Affidavit Regarding Legal Fees and Costs. There was no evidentiary support for the lower court to reduce counsels' rates from \$295.00 and \$250.00 to \$100.00 per hour.

3. There was no reason to reduce counsel's hourly rate.

Even if there were evidence in the record to support an exercise of discretion reducing counsels' hourly rates to \$100.00 per hour, counsel is not aware of any reason why the lower court would have wanted to implement such a reduction here. It is clear that the School District violated Horton's rights and refused to produce documents

Horton was entitled to under FOIA. The lower court concluded that counsel spent an appropriate amount of time on the case, that counsel was entitled to be compensated for each hour expended on the file, that counsels' work produced beneficial results to Horton, and that counsel had favorable professional standings in the Lowcountry legal community. There simply is no known reason to support the hourly rate reduction, even if the reduction were supported by evidence in the record.

g. The lower court awarded attorney fees at an hourly rate that results in inadequate protection of FOIA rights.

South Carolina Code Ann. § 30-4-100(b) was enacted to protect the rights granted by FOIA, and the lower court's award of attorney fees at an hourly rate of \$100.00 results in inadequate protection of FOIA rights.

In Society of Professional Journalists v. Sexton, 283 S.C. 563, 324 S.E.2d 313 (1984), the appellant urged the Court to reverse a FOIA attorney's fee award on grounds that the state agency acted in good faith reliance on a regulation. The South Carolina Supreme Court declined to do so, holding the "trial judge did not abuse his discretion in awarding fees to encourage agencies to comply with FOIA requests." *Id.* at 568, 324 S.E.2d at 316. See also Sloan v. Friends of the Hunley, 393 S.C. 152, 711 S.E.2d 895 (2011) (honoring legislative intent of FOIA by awarding attorney fees serves as an impetus to comply with FOIA); Samples, 329 S.C. at 105, 495 S.E.2d at 213 (imposition of a sanction should serve to protect the rights provided by the Rules).

In this case, awarding statutory attorney fees at a rate of \$100.00 per hour, which is a steep reduction from the customary hourly rates of \$250.00-\$295.00, will likely discourage litigants from bringing litigation under FOIA, even when it is clear that their rights under FOIA have been violated. In fact, if the lower court's order stands, Horton

could be left with a debt of over \$24,331.26 for the attorney's fees incurred. Moreover, the lower court's ruling could discourage experienced attorneys from representing clients in cases similar to Horton's, even when counsel correctly believes that a state agency has violated FOIA. The lower court's ruling will not have the coercive effect of encouraging compliance with FOIA as intended by the South Carolina legislature.