**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 18 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

**APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellate Case No.: 2014-002612**

---

Randy Horton.....Appellant,

v.

Jasper County School District.....Respondent.

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

CHILDS & HALLIGAN, P.A.

Dwayne T. Mazyck, S.C. Bar No. 70240  
dmazyck@childs-halligan.net

Mary Allison Caudell, S.C. Bar No. 101187  
macaudell@childs-halligan.net

1301 Gervais Street, Suite 900  
P.O. Box 11367  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 254-4035  
Attorneys for Respondent

## **I. STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in its award of \$14,626.56 in attorneys' fees and costs to Appellant?

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On June 19, 2013, Plaintiff/Appellant Horton filed his Complaint against the Defendant/Respondent Jasper County School District seeking a declaratory judgment and attorneys' fees and costs for the alleged violations of the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-10, *et seq.*, as amended. (R. pp. 33-54, Complaint.)

Thereafter, on October 9, 2013, Appellant filed a motion for summary judgment. (R. pp. 86-102, Plaintiff's Summary Judgment Motion.) On September 5, 2014, the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen granted the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and awarded Plaintiff \$13,530.00 in attorneys' fees and \$1,096.56 in costs, for a total of \$14,626.56. (R. pp. 19-22, Order Granting Summary Judgment and Award of Costs and Attorneys' Fees.)

On September 16, 2014, Appellant filed Motions pursuant to Rules 52 and 59, SCRCPP, requesting that the September 5, 2014, Order be reconsidered, altered, and/or amended. Specifically, Appellant's counsel requested an attorneys' fees award of \$37,861.26, which was calculated using the hourly rates of \$295.00 per hour for partner, J. Ashley Twombly, \$250.00 per hour for associate, Jennifer Campbell, \$150.00 per hour for paralegal time, and \$75.00 per hour for legal assistant time. (R. pp. 76-79, Motion Pursuant to Rules 52 & 59.)

On November 3, 2013, the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen denied Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration. (R. pp. 2-6, Motion for Reconsideration.) Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on December 4, 2014. (R. pp. 23-24, Notice of Appeal.)

### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An award of attorney's fees rests within the sound discretion of the trial judge and should not be disturbed on appeal unless there is an abuse of discretion.” *Patel v. Patel*, 359 S.C. 515, 599 S.E.2d 114 (2004). “Where an attorney's services and their value are determined by the trier of fact, an appeal will not prevail if the findings of fact are supported by any competent evidence.” *Baron Data Systems, Inc. v. Loter*, 297 S.C. 382, 377 S.E.2d 296 (1989).

### IV. ARGUMENTS

#### A. Under S.C. Code Ann. 30-4-100(B) The Award Of Attorneys' Fees Is Within The Discretion Of The Court.

South Carolina courts follow the “American Rule” that each party is responsible for paying his own attorney's fees. *Duke Power Co. vs. South Carolina Public Service Commission*, 284 S.C. 81, 326 S.E.2d 395 (1985). As a general rule, attorney's fees are not recoverable unless authorized by contract or statute. *Blumberg v. Nealco, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 492, 427 S.E.2d 659 (1993).

FOIA does not mandate the award of attorneys' fees, but permits the court, in its discretion, to award reasonable attorneys' fees to a prevailing plaintiff under the Act.

Section 30-4-100(b) of the Act provides:

If a person or entity seeking such relief prevails, he or it *may* be awarded reasonable attorney's fees and other costs of litigation. If such person or entity prevails in part, *the court may, in its discretion*, award him or it reasonable attorney's fees or an appropriate portion thereof.

(Emphasis added.)

Clearly, the Appellant has no absolute right to the recovery of attorneys' fees, and the award of attorneys' fees rests in the discretion of the court. Appellant wrongfully interprets this statute to provide for a mandatory award of attorneys' fees, and not a

discretionary function to be decided by a judge on a case-by-case basis.

**B. The Trial Court's Award Of Attorneys' Fees Was Reasonable, Supported By Adequate Findings, And There Was No Abuse Of Discretion.**

---

The trial court's order awarding Appellant his attorneys' fees was reasonable and supported by adequate findings. South Carolina case law is clear that so long as a trial court makes specific findings of fact on the record for each factor set forth by *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 486 S.E.2d 750 (1997), the order should be affirmed. *See Burton v. York County Sheriff's Dep't.*, 358 S.C. 339, 358, 594 S.E.2d 888, 898 (Ct. App. 2004); *See also Blumberg*, 310 S.C. at 494, 427 S.E.2d at 661 (1993) (“When an award of attorney's fees is requested and authorized by contract or statute, the court should make specific findings of fact on the record for each factor.”)

In the instant case, the court recited the *Burton* factors, reflected upon the factors, made specific findings of fact on the record regarding the factors, and after doing so, concluded that “an award of costs and attorney’s fees is appropriate under the circumstances and hereby award attorneys’ fees at a rate of \$100 an hour.” (R. pp. 19-22, Order Granting Summary Judgment and Award of Costs and Attorneys’ Fees.) Specifically, the court addressed the time, nature, extent and difficulty of the case; counsels’ preparation of pleadings; document review; and the fact that counsel has a combined twenty-five years of experience in litigation<sup>1</sup>. By expressly considering the *Burton* factors and by reducing the amount awarded to Appellant from the original amount requested, the trial court appropriately evidenced its exercise of discretion in awarding Appellant his attorneys' fees and costs.

Further, Appellant’s argument that it was unreasonable for the trial court to

---

<sup>1</sup> The Appellant’s argument that they have a combined 25 years of litigation experience is irrelevant when the majority of the time they are attributing to this case had little to nothing to do with litigation, but collecting and cataloging documents requested by Mr. Horton.

reduce their attorneys' rate from \$250-295 to \$100 is misplaced. In *Farmers & Merchants Bank v. Fagnoli*, 274 S.C. 23, 260 S.E. 2d 185 (1979), the court propounded "[t]he law requires, however, that the award must be reasonable." *Id.* at 26, 260 S.E.2d at 187. See also *Seabrook Island Prop. Owners' Ass'n v. Berger*, 365 S.C. 234, 243, 616 S.E.2d 431, 436 (Ct. App. 2005). Thus, the *award* of attorneys' fees is the basis of reasonableness, not the reasonableness of the hourly rate charged by the attorneys. In the instant case, after the trial judge considered the *Burton* factors, within her discretion, she awarded reasonable attorneys' fees of \$13,530.00 plus costs.

Moreover, Appellant's contention that he is entitled to more because the Respondent never objected to Appellant's requested legal fees and costs is not accurate. In its brief in response to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, Respondent stated that it was aware that attorneys' fees may be awarded, and that the award was within the discretion of the court. Although the Respondent believes no fee is justified, an award of \$13,530.00 and \$1,096.56 in costs was granted, within the court's discretion, and the District made a business decision to not pursue appeal.

**C. The Award Of Additional Attorneys' Fees In This Case  
Would Serve No Useful Purpose.**

The essential purpose of the FOIA is to protect the public from secret government activity. *Campbell v. Marion Cnty. Hosp. Dist.*, 354 S.C. 274, 280, 580 S.E.2d 163, 166 (Ct. App. 2003). However, the purpose of FOIA was not to allow the public or even school board members to demand copies of thousands of pages of documents at no cost. There are only two alternatives for who will bear the cost of compliance with requests for documents: requesters or taxpayers. FOIA clearly imposes compliance costs on requesters, at the same time that it protects the requesting public's rights by limiting what may be charged to what is "reasonable" and does "not exceed the cost." S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30.

In this case, Appellant was never denied access to these records. He was informed several times that he would be required to pay for the time to locate, search, and copy the records. Appellant also requested copies of “bonus checks” and the District denied this pursuant to Sections 30-4-40(a)(6)(B) and (C) of FOIA because he did not have Board approval to pursue this request. However, the District provided Appellant the ranges of bonuses as issue and the total amount of bonuses distributed. Respondent would like to clarify that if a majority Board decided it was necessary to review the records requested, they would have been provided to all Board members at no cost. However, the Board found no legitimate reason to review the records because all Board members are able to review the budget quarterly where they can track every penny that is spent. Accordingly, Appellant had no qualifying need as a Board member to be provided with the information he specifically requested, in the manner he specifically requested.

Further, the Respondent has already provided Appellant with thousands of pages of documents, at no charge. This production of documents required many hours, and the District had to assign an employee to organize Mr. Horton’s requests. Clearly, the spirit of FOIA does not contemplate allowing attorneys to collect fees to review each and every document from an overly burdensome and tedious request to ensure compliance.

#### **V. CONCLUSION**

The circuit court properly considered, on the record, each of the six factors pertaining to an award of attorneys’ fees. It awarded Appellant \$14,626.56, nearly 40% of their fees, and all of their costs. The award is supported by the Record and is within the bounds of reason. There was no abuse of discretion. Accordingly, the award should not be disturbed by this Court.